THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2012-CP-10-8447
Appellate Case No. 2014-001273

RECEIVED

APR 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Montclair Property Owners Association, Inc. and Montclair
Property Owners Association Board of Directors for and on
behalf of all owners of the Montclair Horizontal Property
Regime, as assignees of Montclair Associates Limited
Partnership, Cremco, LLC, and Montclair Homes, LLC Respondent,

v.

Church Creek Construction, LLC, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

PRATT-THOMAS WALKER

C. Mitchell Brown

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in ruling in favor of Plaintiffs as to their contribution claim against Defendant Church Creek where Plaintiffs failed to establish that the settling defendants, who assigned their contribution claims to Plaintiffs, paid more than their pro rata share of any common liability with Church Creek because: (1) the settlement agreements released claims that did not involve Church Creek; (2) the agreements failed to allocate any amount attributed to a common liability between the settling defendants and Church Creek; and (3) the settlement amounts, parties, and claims involved made it impossible for Plaintiffs to prove an entitlement to contribution from Church Creek?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Montclair Property Owners Association, along with Montclair Property Owners Association Board of Directors for and on behalf of all owners of the Montclair Horizontal Property Regime (collectively, Plaintiffs or “the Regime”), initiated the underlying action in this case on December 31, 2008. (Summons & Compl., R. at 44.) In the operative complaint in the underlying action, Plaintiffs asserted claims arising out of the conversion of the Montclair apartments to condominiums against the following defendants (Third Am. Compl., R. at 67):

- Montclair Associates Limited Partnership (“MALP”), which owned and operated Montclair as an apartment community from 1992 until 2003 (Cremco & MALP Settlement at 2, R. at 1215),
- Montclair Homes, LLC (“Montclair Homes”), which was organized May 8, 2003, purchased Montclair from MALP on November 11, 2003, and then undertook the conversion of Montclair from apartments to condominium units (R. at 1061, 1063, 1236);
- Bruce Kinney, individually, as incorporator for Montclair Homes, and as an officer/director of the Montclair Property Owners Association a/k/a Montclair Homeowners Association, who served as managing member of Montclair Homes, (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 7, R. at 71);
- CREMCO, LLC (“CREMCO”), which formerly served as property management for MALP and Montclair Homes (Cremco & MALP Settlement at 2, R. at 1215; Third Am. Compl. ¶ 9, R. at 71);
- Montclair Property Owners Association a/k/a Montclair Homeowners Association (“Montclair POA”), formed September 26, 2003 and named as a Defendant for the grantor control period (the period that Montclair Homes controlled the board of the POA) (Consent Judgment ¶ 5, R. at 16);
- Church Creek Construction, LLC (“Church Creek”), which performed repair work to the interiors and exteriors of the Montclair condominiums from 2003 to 2005 (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 3, R. at 1197) and is owned jointly by Larry Elsey and Kevin Molony (Trial Tr. at 138:11–14, R. at 259),

- Larry Elsey (individually and d/b/a ECI or Elsey Construction) (“Elsey” or “ECI”), who performed repair work at Montclair under the direction of Church Creek, (Trial Tr. at 130:23–31:7, R. at 251-52); and
- Roger Lockey (“Lockey”), who also performed repair work at Montclair under the direction of Church Creek, (id.).

In the operative underlying complaint, Plaintiffs asserted the following claims:

(1) declaratory judgment; (2) negligent construction and repairs (as to Kinney, Montclair Homes, MALP, and CREMCO),¹ (3) breach of implied warranty of workmanship (as to Kinney, Montclair Homes, MALP, and CREMCO); (4) negligent and grossly negligent misrepresentation (Kinney, individually, Montclair Homes, Montclair POA, MALP, and CREMCO); (5) breach of fiduciary duty and failure to adequately reserve funds for use of the POA (as to all Defendants, except Church Creek, Elsey, and Lockey); (6) breach of express warranties and/or advertisements (as to Kinney, Montclair Homes, MALP, and CREMCO); (7) failure to comply with South Carolina Condominium Disclosure of Physical Condition of Buildings (as to Kinney and Montclair Homes); (8) disbursements from a dissolved LLC under South Carolina Code Section 33-44-808 (as to Kinney and other Unnamed Members of Montclair Homes), (9) negligent construction (as to Church Creek, Elsey, and Lockey); and (10) breach of implied warranty of workmanship (as to Church Creek, Elsey, and Lockey). (Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 63–121, R. at 85-97) As to these ten claims, Plaintiffs only asserted the ninth and tenth causes of action against Church Creek, the appellant in this appeal.²

¹ Plaintiffs refer to these four defendants as the Joint Enterprise Defendants, alleging that these Defendants were involved in a joint enterprise for the development of the Montclair Horizontal Property Regime (Third Am Compl ¶¶ 52–62, R at 82-85)

² Notably, although Plaintiffs filed the underlying lawsuit in 2008, Plaintiffs did not amend their complaint to add Church Creek, Elsey, and Lockey as defendants until August 30, 2010 (Third Am Compl , R at 67)

In May of 2012, Plaintiffs settled with Elsey and Lockey for \$525,000 00, and their settlement agreement did not reserve any contribution claims. (Settlement Agreement, R. at 1226.) Plaintiffs subsequently entered into a stipulation of dismissal as to their claims against Elsey and Lockey (Stipulation of Dismissal, R. at 1.)

On October 4, 2012, the trial court entered a consent judgment in the underlying matter against Montclair Homes and Montclair POA for \$1.6 million and against MALP and CREMCO for \$1.4 million (Judgment, R. at 15.) In November of 2012, Plaintiffs executed two settlement agreements—one with Bruce Kinney, Montclair Homes, and Montclair POA for \$1.6 million, and the other with CREMCO and MALP for \$1.4 million (Settlement Agreements, R. at 1214.) Both settlement agreements extinguished *all liability* for the allegations covered by the underlying complaint, *including* Plaintiffs' claims against Church Creek. Plaintiffs and the settling defendants executed and filed a satisfaction and cancellation of judgment on December 28, 2012. (Satisfaction and Cancellation, R. at 18.) MALP, CREMCO, and Montclair Homes subsequently assigned to Montclair POA their potential claims for contribution against Church Creek. (Assignments, R. at 1219, 1222, 1224)

On December 31, 2012, Plaintiffs filed a complaint against Church Creek seeking contribution, based upon the amounts paid by the defendants of the \$3 million settlement. (Summons & Compl., R. at 99) Church Creek filed an answer denying the allegations of the complaint and asserting affirmative defenses (Answer, R. at 114) On May 6, 2013, the trial court referred the contribution action to the Master-in-Equity. (Consent Order of Reference, R. at 21.)

The Master-in-Equity held a hearing to decide the contribution claims on July 24, 2013. (Trial Tr at 1, R. at 119.) In an Order filed on November 14, 2013, the Master-in-Equity ruled in favor of Plaintiffs as to their contribution claim and ordered Church Creek to pay \$475,000.00. (Judgment & Order, R at 25.)

Church Creek timely filed a motion for reconsideration (Mot. to Reconsider, R at 1247.) Following a hearing, (Hearing Tr., R. at 304), the Master-in-Equity denied Church Creek's motion by entry of a form judgment without analysis on May 9, 2014, (Notice of Entry & Judgment, R. at 42). Church Creek timely appealed both of the Master-in-Equity's orders.

FACTS

Montclair at Towne Centre (“Montclair”) is a group of 39 buildings, including multi-family dwelling structures, comprising 240 units, a clubhouse, and related facilities located at 1861 Montclair Drive, Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464. (CREMCO/MALP Settlement Agreement at 2, R. at 1215, Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 5, 18–19, R. at 70, 73.) Montclair was constructed between 1980 and 1990 on 26 acres of real property, and the buildings contained apartments. (Third Am Compl. ¶ 19, R. at 73.) The original construction included a slab on grade with conventional wood framing, Masonite siding, some brick facades, and asphalt shingle roofs. (Id.)

In 2003, Montclair was converted from apartments to condominiums by the filing of a master deed by the immediate condominium converter, Montclair Homes. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 2, R. at 1195.) Montclair Homes, the grantor on the condo master deed and the entity which sold to the public, purchased the property immediately prior to the filing of the master deed from MALP, an Illinois limited partnership (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 4, R. at 1196, see also Third Am Compl ¶¶ 22–23 (MALP conveyed the property to Montclair Homes on November 6, 2003, and the next day, Montclair Homes filed the master deed creating the Regime), R. at 74.) The new regime, which is the Plaintiff in this case, is known as the Montclair Horizontal Property Regime. It has done business since its inception as a non-profit corporation and is administered by a Board of Directors. (Third Am Compl. ¶¶ 1–4, R. at 70.)

In 2002 and 2003, American Consulting, Inc. (“ACE”), architects, consultants and engineers, performed several inspections for MALP and issued two written assessments of the Montclair property. (11/18/02 ACE Report, R. at 336; 4/24/03 ACE Property

Condition Assessment, R. at 366; Third Am. Compl ¶ 24, R. at 74.) As early as November 18, 2002, ACE recommended, in writing, that the Masonite siding on the buildings be repaired or replaced as a priority in need of immediate attention³ (11/18/02 ACE Report at 1-2, R at 337-38.) The 2002 ACE report, as well as a subsequent ACE report issued in April of 2003, noted a pending class action lawsuit involving the Masonite siding included in the original construction at Montclair.⁴ (11/18/02 ACE Report at 1–2, R. at 337-38; 4/24/03 ACE Property Condition Assessment at 1, 5, R. at 367.) Church Creek did not have any involvement with the application of the Masonite siding or with any of the original construction of the Montclair apartments. (Trial Tr at 47 15–25, R. at 168.)

In May of 2003, Montclair Homes hired Epps Edwards Architects (“Epps”) to inspect the Montclair buildings “for the purpose of making a disclosure of the physical condition of each residential unit/unit building group for prospective buyers.” (Epps Letter dated 5/18/03, R at 335; Epps Report at 4, R. at 326.) In his report, Robert Epps explained that the buildings were painted in 1994 to 1995 and a new roof was installed in 1994. (Epps Report at 3, 5, R. at 325, 327) Epps never mentioned the Masonite siding in his report. (Id. at 1–12, R. at 323-34.) After inspecting all 240 units, Epps only noted minor siding repairs needed to nine of the units. (Id. at 7–10 (Unit 1746: “Wood siding

³ The 2002 ACE Report further noted, “it is our opinion that immediate action is needed on the exterior siding, concrete sidewalks, patios, curbing, tennis court, playground equipment, asphalt walkways and tennis court and playground, and the retaining wall ” (11/18/02 ACE Report at 4, R at 340) The report defined “immediate” needs as those repairs and replacements that “need[] to be done immediately due to safety concerns and/or preservation of structure and finishes ” (Id. at 1, R at 337)

⁴ Plaintiffs allege that the joint enterprise defendants failed to inform prospective buyers of the information contained in the ACE reports, and instead, provided each buyer at closing with a letter, originating from CREMCO, but on ACE stationery, which “characterized the Masonite siding problem as affecting only a ‘small percentage’ of the siding and characterized the likelihood of recovery in the class action suit as ‘probably low’ and concluded that ‘it would be better to spend the money on routine maintenance and isolated repairs ’ ” (Third Am Compl ¶ 58, R at 83, 11/6/03 Letter [Ex 76], R at 731)

and trim deterioration at chimney;” Unit 1772: “Minor bottom siding damage at read next to electric meter;” Unit 1774: “Minor siding damage at right side of sliding door;” Unit 1782: “Minor damage to siding at rear elevation near grade;” Unit 1809: “Piece of siding is off the rear elevation (laying on the ground);” Units 1808/1810/1812: “Small area of damaged siding at bottom of right side exterior building elevation;” Unit 1867: “Minor ‘openings’ in vertical joints of siding at the exterior right side elevation,” R. at 329-332.) Epps did not include any opinion as to the useful life expectancy of the siding and building envelope as common elements (Id. at 1–12, R. at 323-334) In conclusion, and contrary to the 2002 ACE report, Epps represented that “the residential units and the development as a whole have been well maintained,” and “[a]s a result the buildings are in good to very good condition.” (Id. at 12, R. at 334.)

Beginning in 2003 and continuing until approximately early 2005, construction work was done on both the interiors and exteriors of the newly formed condominiums by Church Creek, a licensed South Carolina general contractor. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 3, R. at 1196.) Both MALP and Montclair Homes hired Church Creek to do construction work to accomplish certain work on the interiors, upfits, and on the exteriors, siding and roof repair work, in preparation for sale of the condominiums to the public. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 4, R. at 1196.) Elsey and Lockey worked for Church Creek or were subcontractors or independent contractors doing exterior work on the condominiums at Montclair at the direction of Church Creek. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 10, R. at 1197.)

Kevin Molony, one of the owners of Church Creek (along with Elsey), testified at trial that Bruce Kinney initially hired Church Creek to perform extensive interior renovations to the Montclair units at a cost of \$2.5 million. (Trial Tr. at 129:11–25,

136.8–10, R. at 250, 257; Elsey Depo. at 31:2–33:25, R. at 1156-58.) Church Creek’s original scope of work did not include any exterior work, and Church Creek did not bid for any exterior work. (Trial Tr at 131:8–11, R. at 252.) Molony explained that as Church Creek began performing the interior work at the premises, the Epps report was brought to his attention, which is how Church Creek became involved with some of the exterior repairs. (Trial Tr. at 131:12–17, R at 252.) Molony characterized the work reflected in the Epps report as “very minor exterior work to be done” and indicated that Church Creek was asked to perform the work reflected in the Epps report. (Id.) In October and November of 2003, Church Creek provided Bruce Kinney with estimates to complete the repair work for the items listed in the Epps report (10/10/02 Letter [Ex. 32], R. at 385; 11/10/03 Letter [Ex 33], R. at 391.)

Additionally, Church Creek performed work based on the recommendations of home inspectors as Montclair Homes sold individual units, as well as “very, very minor repairs to some roofs,” following a tropical storm. (Trial Tr at 132:8–13, 133:4–11, R. at 253, 254; CL-100 Letter & Report [Ex. 50], R. at 727.) The total cost of Church Creek’s exterior work on the project was \$317,000 00. (Trial Tr. at 136:1–5, R. at 257; Church Creek Exterior Work Invoice [Ex.34], R at 397.) Finally, Church Creek performed repair work to the firewalls in several units, as requested by Kinney, for a total cost of approximately \$10,300.00 (Trial Tr. at 133:16–19, R. at 254, Attic Repairs Estimate [Ex 45], R. at 723; Attic Repairs Invoice [Ex. 136], R. at 1050.)

Molony testified that he never received and had no knowledge of the ACE reports (Trial Tr. at 132:20–23, R at 253) Molony further testified that no one asked him to perform a complete visual inspection of the exterior of the Montclair buildings.

(Trial Tr. at 134:8–11, R. at 255.) In fact, he explained that Church Creek’s exterior work “was limited to the Epps Report.” (Trial Tr. at 134:12–16 (“Whatever was on that report we addressed that issue.”), 134:18–20 (Molony testifying, “I’m not an architect. We followed their lead. [Epps] said everything was good, so we took it for that.”), R. at 255.) Thus, the scope of Church Creek’s work was limited and did not include removing or replacing all of the siding at Montclair or repairing the siding at all of the units. (Trial Tr. at 32:5–8 (Montclair POA board president testifying that Church Creek was “instructed to do isolated spots or incidents on the outside or to address the Epps Report or to do particular things and that they did those particular things”), 120:5–121:9 (Plaintiffs’ expert referring to a letter in which Kinney complains to MALP that the damage is much worse than was represented at the sale and testifying that if Kinney/Montclair Homes “actually fixed what needed to be fixed it would have been much more than what he spent”), R. at 153, 241-42.) Plaintiff’s expert Derek Hodgins also confirmed, based on his review of the documents and invoices in the record, that Church Creek’s scope of work was limited to the Epps report (Trial Tr. at 65:23–25, R. at 186; 11/10/03 Church Creek Estimate [Ex. 33], R. at 391; Church Creek Exterior Work Invoice [Ex. 34], R. at 397.)

Hodgins specifically noted in his expert report that “[m]ost siding repairs were done over the years by Carolina Builders & Restoration on an emergency basis.” (6/8/10 Hodgins Letter at 1–2, R. at 744-45.) As with Church Creek’s exterior repairs, “[Carolina Builders] did not perform comprehensive repairs, but only spot repairs to stop leaks.” (Id. at 1, R. at 744; Trial Tr. at 115:24–116:13, R. at 236-37.) Hodgins recommended that “[a]ll elevations on all buildings with hardboard siding need to be re-clad as the repairs

done cannot be incorporated into the envelope that is needed with any real degree of confidence that it can manage water properly ” (Id. at 1–2, R. at 744-45.)

Sales of condominium units to the public began in November of 2003 and continued until May of 2005 when Montclair Homes, the condominium converter, sold the last of the 240 units at Montclair. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 5, R. at 1196.) Bruce Kinney served as the managing member of Montclair Homes (Id.) Bruce Kinney and his son, James Kinney, oversaw and directed Church Creek’s work at Montclair.⁵ (Trial Tr. at 135:3–4 (Molony testified that “[a]t the beginning of the project Bruce Kinney spent quite a bit of time.”), 135:4–6 (“They sort of instructed us what they wanted us to do, and after we did it they wanted to make sure the work was done ”), 144:19–20 (“At the beginning it was Bruce that checked on things Later on James came into the picture.”), R. at 256, 265)

In May of 2005, Montclair Homes transferred control over the Montclair POA to the owners of the condominium units. (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 17, R. at 73.) Lawrence A. Laddaga has served on the Montclair POA board since 2005 and is president of the board. (Trial Tr. at 28:4–12, R. at 149.) Laddaga testified that “[w]hen the board took over Mr. Kinney left the Association's finances in a pretty terrible state.” (Trial Tr. at 29:4–5, 29:5–8 (“He was only setting aside about \$30,000 a year for the reserves, and he was using that money each year to balance his budget, which was running a deficit.”), 29:9–11 (explaining that “we didn't know how much we needed to have for reserves but we knew zero was not the right number”), R. at 150.)

⁵ Although James Kinney is not an engineer, architect, or contractor, Bruce Kinney hired his son to oversee the repairs at Montclair, and James Kinney was “directing the extent of the work of Church Creek” and “giving them the okay on how far they could go ” (Trial Tr. at 94 7–23, R. at 218)

As a result, in late 2005 to early 2006, the Montclair POA board “commissioned the reserve study.” (Trial Tr. at 29:11, 29:16–19, R. at 150.) Laddaga testified that “when the reserve study came back,” the board was “both completely shocked and devastated that almost everything on the property was beyond its useful life and the enormous amount of money that we were short in the reserves” (Trial Tr. at 29:11–22, R. at 150.) The study revealed the poor overall condition of the Masonite siding and advised the Montclair POA board to partially or totally replace the original Masonite siding on an expedited basis. (Trial Tr. at 34:14–20, 51:12–13, R. at 155, 172; Reserve Study [Ex. 91], R. at 794.) With respect to the insufficient reserve funding, Laddaga agreed that Church Creek did not “have anything to do with the inadequate reserve funding.” (Trial Tr. at 51:21–24, R. at 172)

In late 2008, the Regime filed this lawsuit against the underlying Defendants for the causes of action set forth above, arising out of the conversion of Montclair from apartments to condominiums and the subsequent sale of the condominiums to the public. As to Church Creek, Elsey, and Lockey, Plaintiffs asserted that they were negligent in the repairs they made to Montclair and that those repairs allegedly caused property damage, including water leakage, to common elements at the property. As to the remaining Defendants, Plaintiffs sought to hold them liable for negligent construction and repairs, as well as for negligent and grossly negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breaches of express warranties and/or advertisements, failure to comply with the statutory requirements for disclosing the present condition of all common elements of the condominium units to prospective purchasers, and/or for disbursement from a dissolved LLC. With respect to these latter claims, Plaintiffs did not assert those causes of action

against Church Creek, Elsey, or Lockey. Specifically, Plaintiffs alleged, *inter alia*, the following misconduct, which did not involve Church Creek:

- That Montclair Homes, Kinney, MALP, and CREMCO were aware that prospective purchases were given the Epps report, representing the property to be in “good to very good” condition, and that prospective purchasers were not informed of the information in the ACE report, which referenced future repairs needed, including that “repair or replacement of all the exterior siding was a priority that needed immediate attention,” (Third Am. Compl ¶¶ 24–32, 37, R. at 74-76, 78);
- That “all Defendants except Lockey, Church Creek and Elsey Construction had knowledge that there was a nationwide class action pending on the siding issue at Montclair and had an affirmative duty to represent that the siding, roofs and other common elements at Montclair had exceeded or were about to exceed their useful life expectancy and that the residents and owners of the units would be put to great expense in the form of future special assessments needed to replace these common elements,” (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 48, R. at 81);
- That all defendants except Church Creek, Lockey, and Elsey breached their fiduciary duty by failing to procure a reserve study and set aside a reserve sufficient to permit Plaintiffs to undertake the extensive repairs and replacement of original construction outlined in Plaintiffs’ reserve study, (Third Am Compl ¶¶ 44, 92–96, R. at 80, 92-93); and
- That Kinney, Montclair Homes, MALP, and CREMCO represented to prospective purchasers that the condominiums were “Luxury Condominiums” and “nearly maintenance free,” (Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 97–101, R. at 93-94).

The underlying case was vigorously contested, many depositions were taken over a two and a half year period of time, dispositive motions were heard and decided, and ultimately, the case was set for trial in October of 2012 before the Honorable Stephanie P McDonald. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 6, R. at 1196.)

During discovery, Plaintiffs’ experts opined that the cost to do a comprehensive repair at Montclair would be in excess of \$12.5 million. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 11, R. at 1197; 9/18/12 Calibogue Repair Estimate [Ex. 262], R. at 1052; 11/15/10 Calibogue

Repair Estimate [Ex 99], R. at 895.) Defendants had several experts listed, but did not offer an alternative cost estimate for repair of the entire exterior of the 36 buildings and 240 units. (Id.) Derek Hodgin, employed by Construction Science and Engineering, Inc. and an expert for Plaintiffs, evaluated the condition of the Montclair property, (Trial Tr at 58:12–15, 59:6–11, R. at 179, 180), and testified that much of the work in the \$12.5 million estimate has nothing to do with Church Creek’s work on the project, including repairs associated with the windows, balconies, roofing, and brick facades of the Montclair units, (Trial Tr. at 104:21–106:9, 108:22–109:2, 111 5–118 20, R at 225-27, 229-30, 232-39).

Laddago also testified that much of the repairs covered by the \$12.5 million repair estimate, by Hodgin’s report, and by the reserve study do not relate to work by Church Creek. (Trial Tr at 39.8–40.14 (total replacement of the windows at an estimated cost of \$5 million, which the board elected not to do and which do not relate to Church Creek’s work), 46:22–47:25 (repair work needed to reroof all of the buildings and work related to original construction), 49:6–50:6 (approximating the following repair costs, which have nothing to do with Church Creek’s work: reserve study update for \$4,500; pool elements for \$1.2 million, clubhouse and pool elements for \$359,000, property site elements for \$4 million; and exterior building elements for \$8 million), R at 160-61, 167-68, 170.) The record does not contain any cost estimate to correct work done solely by Church Creek.

Although Hodgin testified that, in his opinion, Church Creek negligently performed some of its work, Hodgin did not delineate areas where Church Creek’s exterior siding work was deficiently performed versus areas where original construction issues caused water intrusion or moisture damage. Further, Hodgin testified that of the

twenty-six areas in which destructive testing was performed, only six of those showed work performed by Church Creek (Trial Tr at 108:13–21, R. at 229.) In areas where Hodgins observed water damage, he attributed the damage to deficiencies in the original construction, yet criticized Church Creek for not correcting those deficiencies as part of its repair, which was, however, admittedly limited to the Epps report. (Trial Tr. at 76 18–77:9, 77:20–78:21, 92:9–16, R. at 197-99, 213.) Notably, Laddaga testified that he believed Church Creek reported any issues it discovered to Montclair Homes. (Trial Tr. at 32 9–14, R. at 153.) Lockey also testified that he compiled a list of anything that he saw in need of repair and gave it to James Kinney. (Lockey Dep at 22:19–23:9, R. at 143-44.)

In April of 2012, the Regime settled with Elsey and Lockey, and their insurance carriers paid a combined total of \$525,000.00 for complete individual releases for only themselves. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 10, R. at 1197.) Elsey and Lockey did not reserve any contribution claims in their settlement agreement and releases. (Id.; see also Settlement Agreement, R. at 1226) Their release was specific only as to ECI, Elsey, and Lockey and by its terms did not inure to the benefit of any of the remaining parties. (Stipulations of Fact ¶ 10, R. at 1197.)

In November of 2012, Defendants MALP, CREMCO, Montclair Homes, Montclair POA, and Bruce Kinney executed separate settlement and release agreements with Plaintiffs for a total settlement by these Defendants of \$3 million. (Settlement Agreements, R. at 1203.) Pursuant to their agreement, MALP and CREMCO paid Plaintiffs \$1.4 million, with their insurance carriers contributing \$1,385,000.00 and MALP and CREMCO paying \$15,000.00. (CREMCO/MALP Settlement Agreement, R.

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