**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-001273  
Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CP-10-8447

---

RECEIVED

APR 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Montclair Property Owners Association, Inc. and Montclair  
Property Owners Association Board of Directors for and on  
behalf of all owners of the Montclair Horizontal Property  
Regime, as assignees of Montclair Associates Limited  
Partnership, Cremco, LLC and Montclair Homes, LLC,

Respondents,

v.

Church Creek Construction, LLC,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The master properly granted Respondents judgment against Appellant for contribution under the UCATA, because the record shows that, with respect to the underlying litigation, Appellant shared a common tort liability with the Settling Defendants and that, without contribution from Appellant, the Settling Defendants extinguished Appellant's liability by payment of an amount in settlement that the master properly found to be reasonable—and that Appellant has not challenged as being in excess of what was reasonable.**

The essence of Appellant's argument is this technical point: even though Appellant clearly shared common tort liability with the Settling Defendants and even though Appellant clearly benefitted from that liability being extinguished by the Settling Defendants' payment of \$3,000,000, since the underlying plaintiffs did not pursue the same causes of action against all of the underlying defendants and since the underlying plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants did not expressly allocate damages constituting common liability in settling the underlying litigation, as a matter of law, the master could not award Respondents contribution against Appellant, because the amount of common liability, and pro rata shares thereof, could not properly be determined.

Respectfully, Appellant's argument is without merit, because it is founded on a construction of the Contribution Act that is at odds with its

ameliorative purpose and ignores the express legislative directive that courts do equity in applying the Act.

**A. As an initial matter, Appellant has the burden to show any reversible error.**

Notwithstanding the broad scope of review in an action in equity, the appellate court is, of course, “not required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility.” Ingram v. Kasey’s Assocs., 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2000). Moreover, as a general rule, to upset the presumptive validity of a lower court’s decision on appeal, the appellant has the affirmative obligation to preserve for appeal and properly present issues, argument, and analysis to this Court sufficient to show reversible error. *See* McCall v. IKON, 380 S.C. 649, 659-60, 670 S.E.2d 695, 701 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting an appealed order comes to the appellate court with a presumption of correctness, with the burden on the appellant to demonstrate reversible error, and an appellate court is obliged to reverse when error is called to its attention, but it is not in the business of figuring out on its own whether error exists); *see also* Jinks v. Richland County, 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283, n. 3 (2003) (an issue which is not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and precludes consideration on appeal); First Union

Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an “unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance”).

With these principles in mind, Respondents note that, although it contains a lengthy factual presentation and a citation to the broad scope of appellate review allowed in an action in equity, Appellant’s brief contains no argument challenging numerous factual findings and legal conclusions set forth in the master’s decision,<sup>3</sup> including:

### FINDINGS OF FACT

...

---

<sup>3</sup> To be clear, Respondents contend that the master’s factual findings and legal conclusions are supported by the record. Indeed, except to the extent that it is somehow inconsistent with the argument/analysis presented herein, Respondents adopt the reasoning set forth in the master’s decision by reference in support of its affirmance. And, to the extent there may be any question about the propriety of pointing to the master’s own reasoning in support of affirmance, Respondents note that Rule 220(c), SCACR, expressly permits an appellate court to “affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal” and Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR, authorizes a respondent’s brief to “contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c).” Respondents submit that such incorporation by reference is a proper way to advocate for affirmance—moreover, it is efficient, and avoids needless redundancy. *Cf.* Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR (providing that “any party may adopt by reference all or any part of the brief of another”). Respondents also submit that incorporation by reference in this manner is consistent with the legal presumption of correctness attached to an appealed order and the affirmative burden imposed upon the appellant to show any reversible error. *See McCall*, 380 S.C. at 659-60, 670 S.E.2d at 701.

2. The Court finds, and it was not disputed at the hearing, that CCC performed and supervised construction-related activities on the exteriors of the buildings at Montclair for the converter group, Montclair Homes, and did firewall repairs for MALP, the seller of the apartments to Montclair Homes, for the apartment-to-condominium conversion between the Fall of 2003 and the Spring of 2005. . . . The Court finds as a fact that the last invoice from Roger Lockey/CCC for repair work is dated April 8, 2005 . . . . The Court finds these repaired areas of the buildings were common elements and were areas that the Plaintiffs in the underlying suit claimed were in substandard and damaged condition due, in part, to defective repairs by CCC. . . .

3. The Court finds that the Plaintiffs alleged . . . deficient and negligent construction causing property damage to them against CCC, MALP, and Montclair Homes. The Court finds that at the time of the release of CCC in November 2012, there was no less than seven (7) separate defendants left which, but for the releases, would have gone to a jury trial with a real possibility that joint and several liability would be established. . . .

5. The Court finds that the work of CCC was negligent and caused consequential damage to Plaintiff's property other than to the work itself and that the negligent construction work combined and concurred with the negligence of the other two defendant groups and contributed to the Plaintiff's indivisible damages. Plaintiffs established by expert testimony that CCC's work in many areas of the exteriors of the building envelope and also in the repair of the firewalls was deficient and violated the building codes in effect for the time period when CCC performed repairs through its

subcontractors. This was established to the satisfaction of the Court by a preponderance of the evidence. The Court notes negligent repairs of the firewalls did affect a life safety system within the buildings. The Court finds that many of the areas of the exteriors of the buildings will need to be repaired again after the CCC repairs, including the repair of consequential damage, and that the firewalls will need to be redone, all at a considerable expense to the Plaintiffs. The Court finds that the Defendant CCC did not present any alternative cost of repair estimate and that the Plaintiff's cost to repair the buildings was in the \$12,000,000 range.

6. The Court finds that the Plaintiffs did have viable causes of action still existing upon which they were proceeding to trial in the underlying case at the time of the settlement in November 2012. Some of the causes of action sounded in tort and were for deficient construction with all three groups of defendants alleged to have been jointly and severally responsible. Indeed, these were the most significant causes of action in light of the evidence of record. . . . This Court is convinced that the release which CCC had the benefit of by virtue of the payment by MALP and Montclair Homes had substantial value to CCC. Had a verdict been rendered below in tort for negligent construction, CCC and the other defendants would have faced substantial common liability but for their liability being extinguished by settlement.

## **CONCLUSIONS OF LAW**

...

In weighing the evidence, the Court finds that CCC and its subcontractors did in fact conduct negligent construction activities on multiple parts of the common elements of these buildings and did contribute to causing the Plaintiff's significant consequential property damage. Therefore, this Court finds CCC was a joint tortfeasor with MALP and Montclair Homes and finds the overall November 2012 settlement to have been a fair and reasonable settlement . . . .

CCC contends it only "touched" 65% of the buildings. However, this was sufficiently rebutted in the Court's opinion by the Plaintiffs' experts that CCC touched slightly in excess of 90% of the buildings. The Plaintiffs introduced evidence that CCC's own invoices indicated it worked on buildings housing 218 of 240 units, or slightly over 90%. This Court finds the Plaintiffs' evidence to be compelling and of greater weight as it includes actual invoices from CCC demonstrating where it worked. The Court therefore declines to deduct 10% from the amount of fair contribution from the amount of fair contribution CCC should pay.

The release which extinguished CCC's liability was purchased in the context of a possible joint and several liability. . . .

(R. pp. 31-33, 39-40 (internal citations omitted).)

**B. The master properly determined that Respondents met their burden of proof in this case and, in so doing, properly effectuated the ameliorative purpose of the Contribution Act and followed the legislature’s directive to see that equity was done in applying the Act.<sup>4</sup>**